
AGENDA 

 

COLORADO SUPREME COURT 

COMMITTEE ON THE 

RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 

 

Friday, November 4, 2022, 1:30 p.m. 

Ralph L. Carr Colorado Judicial Center  

2 E.14th Ave., Denver, CO 80203 

Fourth Floor, Supreme Court Conference Room  

 

I. Call to order 

 

   II. Approval of September 23, 2022, minutes [Pages 1 to 3] 

 

III. Announcements from the Chair 

 

A. General 

 

IV. Present Business   

 

  A. C.R.C.C.P. Forms 4 and 5—Appeal Forms Workgroup Request—(Ana Rodriguez)

[Pages 4 to 8]  

 

 
 

B. C.R.C.P. 16.2—Simplified Process for Dissolution of Marriage in Low-Income/Low-

Conflict Situations—(Judge Brody) [Pages 9 to 26] 

 

V. Adjourn—Next meeting is January 27, 2022, at 1:30 pm. 

  

 

 

Jerry N. Jones, Chair 

       jerry.jones@judicial.state.co.us 

       720-625-5335 

 

 

mailto:jerry.jones@judicial.state.co.us


 
 

1 
 

Colorado Supreme Court Advisory Committee on the Rules of Civil Procedure 

September 23, 2022, Minutes   

 

A quorum being present, the Colorado Supreme Court Advisory Committee on the Rules of Civil 

Procedure was called to order by Judge Jerry N. Jones at 1:30 p.m. in the Supreme Court 

Conference Room.  Members present at the meeting were: 

 

Name Present Not Present 

Judge Jerry N. Jones, Chair   X  

Judge Michael Berger X  

Judge Karen Brody  X  

Miko Ando Brown  X  

Judge Catherine Cheroutes X  

Damon Davis  X  

David R. DeMuro  X  

Judge Stephanie Dunn X  

Judge J. Eric Elliff  X  

Judge Adam Espinosa  X  

Peter Goldstein   X 

Magistrate Lisa Hamilton-Fieldman  X  

Michael J. Hofmann   X 

Judge Thomas K. Kane   X 

John Lebsack  X 

Bradley A. Levin   X  

Professor Christopher B. Mueller    X 

Brent Owen  X  

John Palmeri X  

Alana Percy X  

Lucas Ritchie  X 

Chief Judge Gilbert M. Román X  

Judge (Ret.) Sabino Romano   X 

Judge Stephanie Scoville   X  

Lee N. Sternal  X  

Magistrate Marianne Tims   X 

Andi Truett  X 

Jose L. Vasquez  X 
 

Judge Juan G. Villaseñor  X 

Ben Vinci   X            

Judge (Ret.) John R. Webb   X 

J. Gregory Whitehair  X 
 

Judge Christopher Zenisek    X  

Non-voting Participants   
 

Justice Richard Gabriel, Liaison  X 
 

Jeremy Botkins   X  

1 



 
 

2 
 

 

 

 

I. Attachments & Handouts  

• September 23, 2022, agenda packet and supplement.  

 

II. Announcements from the Chair    

• The June 24, 2022, minutes were approved as submitted.   

• Chair Judge Jones announced the 2023 meeting dates:  January 27, April 7, June 23, 

September 22, and November 3.  He also noted that recent rule changes from this 

Committee’s work were in the agenda packet.  

 

III. Present Business  

 

A. C.R.C.C.P. Forms 4 and 5 

Ana Rodriquez explained that clerks requested the presented changes to ensure 

consistency with other forms and rules.  The Committee suggested several changes and 

advised the working group to consider replacing some existing legalese with plain 

language.  Ms. Rodriquez will take the suggestions to the working group and return to the 

Committee with a final product.  

 

B. C.R.C.P. 16.2 

Judge Brody said that the Subcommittee is proposing a narrow and simple rule change to 

16.2, which governs procedural aspects of dissolution cases and child custody cases.  The 

proposal focuses on mandatory disclosure requirements.  The Subcommittee is trying to 

solve a narrow problem:  for certain people who qualify, how many financial disclosures 

are needed.  The purpose of this proposal is to increase access to the court system.   

 

In discussing the proposal, one member noted that it would benefit from adding an 

advisement.  The group also discussed the benefits and drawbacks of making the 

proposed form a supreme court form versus an SCAO form, as well as suggestions to use 

more plain language.  Based on the Committee’s feedback, the Subcommittee will take 

the proposal back for further revision and some informal vetting from various 

stakeholders.   

 

The Committee voted unanimously to move this resolution forward along the lines 

proposed and have the Subcommittee return with final language at a future date.   

 

C. Proposed Amendments for FED Actions 

Judge Espinosa noted that this last round of revisions concerns FED actions in district 

court.   

 

Justice Gabriel highlighted that the vote tallies on several of the proposals were quite 

close.  Judge Espinosa responded that many of the individuals on the Subcommittee 

preferred the status quo and did not want changes to the rules; however, the majority on 

the Subcommittee voted in favor of the changes for the sake of consistency.   

2 



 
 

3 
 

 

Based on the comments, including some noting that the wording did not track with the 

statute’s language, Judge Espinosa will take the proposed rules back to the Subcommittee 

and welcomed any comment submissions from Committee members.   

  

D. C.R.C.C.P. Forms 29 and 30 

Jose Vasquez submitted these proposals in response to recent legislation.  After 

requesting one nit error be remedied, the Committee voted unanimously to approve these 

changes.   

 

Future Meetings 

A. 2022:  November 4  

2023:  January 27; April 7; June 23; September 22; November 3 

 

The Committee adjourned at 3:10 p.m.   

  
 

3 



1

michaels, kathryn

From: rodriguez, ana

Sent: Tuesday, September 27, 2022 1:17 PM

To: michaels, kathryn

Subject: CRCCP Form 4 and Form 5

Attachments: Form 4 Notice of Appeal Redline version 9-27-2022.docx; Form 5 Designation of Record 

on Appeal Redline version 9-27-2022.docx

 
 
 
Good morning, 
 
Attached are the redline versions of the CRCPP form 4-Notice of Appeal and CRCCP Form 5-Designation of Record on 
Appeal with the additional revisions asked of us to make.  
I am not certain if I am to send them to you for the next Civil Rules Committee meeting on November 4th but please let 
me know if I should direct them to someone else.  
I included the notes for the changes requested below along with our own notes on the changes made to the forms.  
 
Notes on forms from 9/23 meeting: 
Form 4 
Sentence- “Please take notice that the undersigned will file an appeal”- Reword-do not like the formalistic nature of it. 
Examples shout out…..Please take notice this is an appeal….This is an appeal… Completed 

Sentence-“Said appeal will be docketed in the District Court pursuant to Rule 411, Rules of County Court Civil Procedure”-
Would like to omit “Said” replace with “The”. Also they asked if  there is a reason why we are using Rule 411 specifically? 
May be have it read –“The appeal will be docketed in the District Court pursuant to the Rules of County Court Civil 
Procedure” or “The appeal will be docketed in the District Court.” 
Appeal Clerks feel it is helpful for litigants to have the rule the form. JDF 222 states it is specific to C.R.C.P. 37-“ Please 
note, I am filing an appeal in my county court (or municipal) case to the District Court as per Colorado Rule of Criminal 
Procedure 37” 
Footer- Would rather it say "County Court to District Court Appeal" instead of Rule 411 Completed 
 
Form 5 
CAR 10-Is form complaint to CJD 05-03? Yes it is. 
Footer-Omit “ON APPEAL” add OF TRANSCRIPTS Completed 
 
Thank you, 
 
Ana 
 

 
 

4 



CRCCP    FORM 4 SC   3/1811/2022    NOTICE OF APPEAL (County Court to District Court Appeal) 

❑ County Court  __________________________ County, Colorado 

Court Address: 
 
 

Plaintiff(s): 
 
v. 
 
Defendant(s): 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  COURT USE ONLY 

Attorney or Party Without Attorney (Name and Address):  
 
 
 
Phone Number:                                  E-mail: 
FAX Number:                                     Atty. Reg. #: 

Case Number: 
 
 
 
 
Division               Courtroom 

NOTICE OF APPEAL 

 
 
To: The County Court in and for the County of _________________________, State of Colorado and the above 
named ________________________________. 
 
Please take notice that the undersigned will file this is an appeal. 
 

❑ By checking this box, I am acknowledging I am filling in the blanks and not changing anything else on the form. 

❑ By checking this box, I am acknowledging that I have made a change to the original content of this form. 

 
SaidThe appeal will be docketed in the District Court pursuant to Rule 411, Rules of County Court Civil Procedure. 
 
Done this _________ day of ________________, 20 ______. 
 
 
________________________________________ _________________________________________ 
Signature(s) of Appellant(s)     Signature of Attorney for Appellant(s), if applicable 
 
 
_________________________________________  
Name, Address(es) of Appellant(s) 
 
_________________________________________ 
Telephone Number(s) of Appellant(s) 
 
 

 
CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

 
 

I certify that a true copy of the Notice of Appeal and the Designation of Record on Appeal was mailed, postage 

prepaid, to _______________________________________________________ (opposing party(ies) or attorney), 

at _______________________________________________________ (address), on ________________ (date). 

 

 

________________________________ 
Appellant(s) or Attorney for Appellant(s) 

5 



CRCCP   FORM 5 SC   3/1811/2022   DESIGNATION OF RECORD ON APPEALTRANSCRIPTS (County Civil Appeal) 

County Court  __________________________ County, Colorado 
Court Address: 
 
 

Plaintiff/Petitioner(s): 
 
v. 
 
Defendant/Respondent(s): 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  COURT USE ONLY 

Attorney or Filing Party Without Attorney (Name and Address):  
 
 
 
Phone Number:                        E-mail: 
FAX Number:                           Atty. Reg. #: 

Case Number: 
 
 
 
 
Division               Courtroom 
 
Court of Appeal’s Case 
 
Number: ________________ 
 

DESIGNATION OF RECORD ON APPEALTRANSCRIPTS 
 

1. I would like the following transcripts included in the Record on Appeal: 
 

(For an event that lasted more than one day, please list each day separately.) 

Type of Event 

(Examples: Motions Hearing, Trial Day 1, Conference) 
Date Start Time 

Court Reporter 

Name (If Any) 

 
  

 

1)    

2)    

3)    

4)    

5)    

6)    

7)    

8)    

9)    

 

2. I will submit a Transcript Request Form to the District Court along with this Designation. 

 

3. I Understand: 

• I will have to pay for each transcript I list. 

• I will NOT attach any transcripts to this document. 

• This document just lists the transcripts to be included in the appeal. 

6 



CRCCP   FORM 5 SC   3/1811/2022   DESIGNATION OF RECORD ON APPEALTRANSCRIPTS (County Civil Appeal) 

• The transcriptionist will send the transcripts to the District Court. 

• The transcripts are sent when they are completed and only if I fully pay for them. 

 
 
 

4. I certify that on (date)  , I (check one) 
 
mailed  | hand delivered  |          E-filed   

 

a copy of this document to: 

 

1) Name:    

Address:    

City:  State:           Zip:     

 

2) Name:    

Address:    

City:  State:           Zip:     

 

5. Respectfully submitted on (dated)   , by 

Print Name:    

 

Signature:    
 
 
The clerk will prepare for the District Court a record on appeal which shall include the following: 
 

1. All original process and pleadings on file in the trial court. 

2. All exhibits. 

3. Jury instructions. 

4. Judgments and orders of the Court. 

5. Reporter's original transcript - excluding transcript of jury voir dire, opening statements, and closing 

summation, but including all evidence. 

              

              

              

              

               

 

❑ By checking this box, I am acknowledging I am filling in the blanks and not changing anything else on the form. 

❑ By checking this box, I am acknowledging that I have made a change to the original content of this form. 

 
Please prepare and certify with all convenient speed. 

7 



CRCCP   FORM 5 SC   3/1811/2022   DESIGNATION OF RECORD ON APPEALTRANSCRIPTS (County Civil Appeal) 

 
 
Requested this ______ day of ________________, 20 ___. 
 
 
        ______________________________________ 

    Appellant(s) or Attorney for Appellant(s) 
 
 
Amount deposited $____________ for record. 
 
 
Appeal bond in the amount of $___________ filed.  
 
 

8 



Rule 16.2. Court Facilitated Management of Domestic..., CO ST RCP Rule 16.2 

 1 

 

 

 

 

C.R.C.P. Rule 16.2 

 

Rule 16.2. Court Facilitated Management of Domestic Relations 

Cases and General Provisions Governing Duty of Disclosure 

 

Effective: March 5, 2020  

 

 

(a) Purpose and Scope. Family members stand in a special relationship to one another and to the court system. It is the purpose 

of Rule 16.2 to provide a uniform procedure for resolution of all issues in domestic relations cases that reduces the negative 

impact of adversarial litigation wherever possible. To that end, this Rule contemplates management and facilitation of the case 

by the court, with the disclosure requirements, discovery and hearings tailored to the needs of the case. This Rule shall govern 

case management in all district court actions under Articles 10, 11 and 13 of Title 14 of the Colorado Revised Statutes, including 

post decree matters. The Child Support Enforcement Unit (CSEU) shall be exempted under this Rule unless the CSEU enters 

an appearance in an ongoing case. Upon the motion of any party or the court's own motion, the court may order that this Rule 

shall govern juvenile, paternity or probate cases involving allocation of parental responsibilities (decision-making and parenting 

time), child support and related matters. Any notice or service of process referenced in this Rule shall be governed by the 

Colorado Rules of Civil Procedure. 

 

(b) Active Case Management. The court shall provide active case management from filing to resolution or hearing on all 

pending issues. The parties, counsel and the court shall evaluate each case at all stages to determine the scheduling of that 

individual case, as well as the resources, disclosures/discovery, and experts necessary to prepare the case for resolution or 

hearing. The intent of this Rule is to provide the parties with a just, timely and cost effective process. The court shall consider 

the needs of each case and may modify its Standard Case Management Order accordingly. Each judicial district may adopt a 

Standard Case Management Order that is consistent with this Rule and takes into account the specific needs and resources of 

the judicial district. 

 

(c) Scheduling and Case Management for New Filings. 

 

(1) Initial Status Conferences/Stipulated Case Management Plans. 

 

(A) Petitioner shall be responsible for scheduling the initial status conference and shall provide notice of the conference to 

all parties. Each judicial district shall establish a procedure for setting the initial status conference. Scheduling of the initial 

status conference shall not be delayed in order to accomplish service. 

 

(B) All parties and counsel, if any, shall attend the initial status conference, except as provided in subsection (c)(1)(C) or 

(c)(1)(D). At that conference, the parties and counsel shall be prepared to discuss the issues requiring resolution and any 

special circumstances of the case. The court may permit the parties and/or counsel to attend the initial conference and any 

subsequent conferences by telephone.

 

West's Colorado Revised Statutes Annotated 

Colorado Court Rules 

Chapters 1--24. Rules of Civil Procedure 

Chapter 2. Pleadings and Motions 

9 

http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/StatutesCourtRules/ColoradoStatutesCourtRules?navigationPath=%26listSource%3D%26listPageSource%3D%26list%3D%26rank%3D0%26transitionType%3DDocumentItem&amp;contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)&amp;rs=clbt1.0&amp;vr=3.0
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/StatutesCourtRules/ColoradoStatutesCourtRules?guid=N063CCAB0D88C11DBA93CE8A0BD96DE4A&amp;navigationPath=%26listSource%3D%26listPageSource%3D%26list%3D%26rank%3D0%26transitionType%3DDocumentItem&amp;contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)&amp;rs=clbt1.0&amp;vr=3.0
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/StatutesCourtRules/ColoradoStatutesCourtRules?guid=N031920B0D88511DBA93CE8A0BD96DE4A&amp;navigationPath=%26listSource%3D%26listPageSource%3D%26list%3D%26rank%3D0%26transitionType%3DDocumentItem&amp;contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)&amp;rs=clbt1.0&amp;vr=3.0
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/StatutesCourtRules/ColoradoStatutesCourtRules?guid=N03DFCC10D88511DBA93CE8A0BD96DE4A&amp;navigationPath=%26listSource%3D%26listPageSource%3D%26list%3D%26rank%3D0%26transitionType%3DDocumentItem&amp;contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)&amp;rs=clbt1.0&amp;vr=3.0


Rule 16.2. Court Facilitated Management of Domestic..., CO ST RCP Rule 16.2 

 2 

 

 

 

(C) If both parties are represented by counsel, counsel may submit a Stipulated Case Management Plan signed 

by counsel and the parties. Counsel shall also exchange Mandatory Disclosures and file a Certificate of 

Compliance. The filing of such a plan, the Mandatory Disclosures and Certificate of Compliance shall exempt 

the parties and counsel from attendance at the initial status conference. The court shall retain discretion to require 

a status conference after review of the Stipulated Case Management Plan. 

 

(D) Parties who file an affidavit for entry of decree without appearance with all required documents before the 

initial status conference shall be excused from that conference. 

 

(E) The initial status conference shall take place, or the Stipulated Case Management Plan shall be filed with the 

court, as soon as practicable but no later than 42 days from the filing of the petition. 

 

(F) At the initial status conference, the court shall set the date for the next court appearance. The court may direct 

one of the parties to send written notice for the next court appearance or may dispense with written notice. 

 

(2) Status Conference Procedures. 

 

(A) At each conference the parties shall be prepared to discuss what needs to be done and determine a timeline for 

completion. The parties shall confer in advance on any unresolved issues. 

 

(B) The conferences shall be informal. 

 

(C) Family Court Facilitators may conduct conferences. Family Court Facilitators shall not enter orders but may 

confirm the agreements of the parties in writing. Agreements which the parties wish to have entered as orders 

shall be submitted to the judge or magistrate for approval. 

 

(D) The judge or magistrate may enter interim orders at any status conference either upon the stipulation of the 

parties or to address emergency circumstances. 

 

(E) A record of any part of the proceedings set forth in this section shall be made if requested by a party or by order of 

the court. 

 

(F) The court shall either enter minute orders, direct counsel to prepare a written order, or place any agreements 

or orders on the record. 

 

(3) Emergency Matters/Evidentiary Hearings/Temporary Orders. 

 

(A) Emergency matters may be brought to the attention of the clerk or the Family Court Facilitator for 

presentation to the court. Issues related to children shall be given priority on the court’s calendar. 

 

(B) At the request of either party or on its own motion, the court shall conduct an evidentiary hearing, subject to 

the Colorado Rules of Evidence, to resolve disputed questions of fact or law. The parties shall be given notice 

of any evidentiary hearing. Only a judge or magistrate may determine disputed questions of fact or law or enter 

orders.  

 

(C) Hearings on temporary orders shall be held as soon as possible. The parties shall certify on the record at the 

time of the temporary orders hearing that the have conferred and attempted in good faith to resolve temporary 

orders issues. If the parties do not comply with this requirement, the court may vacate the hearing unless an 

emergency exists that requires immediate court attention.  

 

10 



Rule 16.2. Court Facilitated Management of Domestic..., CO ST RCP Rule 16.2 

 3 

 

 

 

(4) Motions. 

 

(A) Motions related to the jurisdiction of the court, change of venue, service and consolidation, protection orders, 

contempt, motions to amend the petition or response, withdrawal or substitution of counsel, motions to seal the 

court file or limit access to the court file, motions in limine related to evidentiary hearings, motions for review 

of an order by a magistrate, and post decree motions may be filed with the court at any time. 

 

(B) All other motions shall only be filed and scheduled as determined at a status conference or in an emergency 

upon order of court. 

 

(d) Scheduling and Case Management for Post-Decree/Modification Matters. Within 49 days of the date a post 

decree motion or motion to modify is filed, the court shall review the matter and determine whether the case will be 

scheduled and resolved under the provisions of (c) or will be handled on the pleadings or otherwise. 

 

(e) Disclosure. 

(1) Parties to domestic relations cases owe each other and the court a duty of full and honest disclosure of all facts 

that materially affect their rights and interests and those of the children involved in the case. The court requires that, 

in the discharge of this duty, a party must affirmatively disclose all information that is material to the resolution of 

the case without awaiting inquiry from the other party. This disclosure shall be conducted in accord with the duty of 

candor owing among those whose domestic issues are to be resolved under this Rule 16.2. 

(2) Except as set forth in C.R.C.P. 16.2(e)(11) below, Aa party shall, without a formal discovery request, provide the 

Mandatory Disclosures, as set forth in the form and content of Appendix to Chapters 1 to 17A, Form 35.1, C.R.C.P., 

and shall provide a completed Sworn Financial Statement and (if applicable) Supporting Schedules as set forth in the 

form and content of Appendix to Chapters 1 to 17A, Form 35.2 and Form 35.3, C.R.C.P, to the other party within 42 

days after service of a petition or a post decree motion involving financial issues. The parties shall exchange the 

required Mandatory Disclosures, the Sworn Financial Statement and (if applicable) Supporting Schedules by the 

time of the initial status conference to the extent reasonably possible. Parties proceeding under C.R.C.P. 16.2(e)(11) 

shall file and serve a completed Affidavit in Support of Waiver of Mandatory Disclosures, JDF Form 35.4, within 42 

days after service of a petition or a post- decree motion involving financial matters.  

(3) A party shall, without a formal discovery request, also provide a list of expert and lay witnesses whom the party 

intends to call at a contested hearing or final orders. This disclosure shall include the address, phone number and a 

brief description of the testimony of each witness. This disclosure shall be made no later than 63 days (9 weeks) 

prior to the date of the contested hearing or final orders, unless the time for such disclosure is modified by the court.  

Unless otherwise stipulated or ordered by the court and subject to the provisions of subsection (g) of this Rule, the 

disclosure of expert testimony shall be governed by the provisions of C.R.C.P. 26(a)(2)(B). The time for the 

disclosure of expert or lay witnesses whom a party intends to call at a temporary orders hearing or other emergency 

hearing shall be determined by the court. 

(4) A party is under a continuing duty to supplement or amend any disclosure in a timely manner. This duty shall be 

governed by the provisions of C.R.C.P. 26(e). 

(5) If a party does not timely provide the Mandatory Disclosure, the court may impose sanctions pursuant to 

subsection (j) of this Rule. 

11 



Rule 16.2. Court Facilitated Management of Domestic..., CO ST RCP Rule 16.2 

 4 

 

 

(6) The Sworn Financial Statement, Supporting Schedules (if applicable) and child support worksheets shall be filed 

with the court. Other mandatory disclosure documents shall not be filed with the court. 

(7) A Certificate of Compliance shall accompany the Mandatory Disclosures and shall be filed with the court. A 

party's signature on the Certificate constitutes certification that to the best of the signer's knowledge, information, 

and belief, formed after a reasonable inquiry, the Mandatory Disclosure is complete and correct as of the time it is 

made, except as noted with particularity in the Certificate of Compliance. 

(8) Signing of all disclosures, discovery requests, responses and objections shall be governed by C.R.C.P. 26(g). 

(9) A Court Authorization For Financial Disclosure shall be issued at the initial status conference if requested, or 

may be executed by those parties who submit a Stipulated Case Management Plan pursuant to (c)(1)(C), identifying 

the persons authorized to receive such information. 

(10) As set forth in this section, it is the duty of parties to an action for decree of dissolution of marriage, legal 

separation, or invalidity of marriage, to provide full disclosure of all material assets and liabilities. If a disclosure 

contains a misstatement or omission materially affecting the division of assets or liabilities, any party may file and 

the court shall consider and rule on a motion seeking to reallocate assets and liabilities based on such a misstatement 

or omission, provided that the motion is filed within 5 years of the final decree or judgment. The court shall deny 

any such motion that is filed under this paragraph more than 5 years after the final decree or judgment. The 

provisions of C.R.C.P. 60 do not bar a motion by either party to allocate such assets or liabilities pursuant to this 

paragraph. This paragraph does not limit other remedies that may be available to a party by law. 

(11) (a) Parties to a domestic relations matter may agree in writing to limit exchange of financial disclosures 

otherwise required under C.R.C.P. 16.2(e)(2) to Sworn Financial Statements so long as the parties affirm that all of 

the following conditions exist at the time of their agreement: 

1. Limiting disclosure will not create a substantial hardship to any party; 

2. No party is pregnant, and the matter will not involve a determination of paternity, entry of a parenting 

plan, or an order of child support; 

3. Neither party is seeking an award of maintenance; 

4. The net equity (estimated value as of the current date minus all amounts owed) of all marital assets in a 

dissolution matter, (excluding the marital residence), is less than $100,000. 

5. The combined debt of the parties, not including the mortgage on the marital residence, is less than 

$50,000; and 

6. Neither party has any separate property interests with net equity exceeding $10,000, or any interest in a 

pension, or any interest in a trust. 

(b) Each party shall execute an Affidavit in Support of Waiver of Mandatory Disclosures, JDF Form 35.4, 

affirming that the proceeding meets the requirements set forth above for limited disclosures.  

(c) In all domestic relations cases, the filing of a Sworn Financial Statement remains mandatory. At any time after 

filing Sworn Financial Statements, either party may withdraw consent to limited financial disclosures by filing a 

Notice of Withdrawal of Consent to Waiver of Mandatory Financial Disclosures in Domestic Relations Cases, JDF 

12 



Rule 16.2. Court Facilitated Management of Domestic..., CO ST RCP Rule 16.2 

 5 

 

 

Form 35.5, with the Court withdrawing consent to limited disclosures, or the Court may order that limited financial 

disclosure is not appropriate given the facts of a particular case. All disclosures required under C.R.C.P. 16.2(e)(2) 

shall be exchanged and the Certificate of Compliance filed within 28 days following the earlier of the date of filing a 

withdrawal of consent or entry of a Court order mandating complete financial disclosures.  

(f) Discovery. Discovery shall be subject to active case management by the court consistent with this Rule. 

(1) Depositions of parties are permitted. 

(2) Depositions of non-parties upon oral or written examination for the purpose of obtaining or authenticating 

documents not accessible to a party are permitted. 

(3) After an initial status conference or as agreed to in a Stipulated Case Management Plan filed pursuant to 

(c)(1)(E), a party may serve on each adverse party any of the pattern interrogatories and requests for production of 

documents contained in the Appendix to Chapters 1 to 17A Form 35.4 and Form 35.5, C.R.C.P. A party may also 

serve on each adverse party 10 additional written interrogatories and 10 additional requests for production of 

documents, each of which shall consist of a single question or request. 

(4) The parties shall not undertake additional formal discovery except as authorized by the court or as agreed in a 

Stipulated Case Management Plan filed pursuant to (c)(1)(C). The court shall grant all reasonable requests for 

additional discovery for good cause as defined in C.R.C.P. 26(b)(2)(F). Unless otherwise governed by the provisions 

of this Rule additional discovery shall be governed by C.R.C.P. Rules 26 through 37 and C.R.C.P. 121 section 1-12. 

Methods to discover additional matters shall be governed by C.R.C.P. 26(a)(5). Additional discovery for trial 

preparation relating to documents and tangible things shall be governed by C.R.C.P. 26(b)(3). 

(5) All discovery shall be initiated so as to be completed not later than 28 days before hearing, except that the court 

shall extend the time upon good cause shown or to prevent manifest injustice. 

(6) Claims of privilege or protection of trial preparation materials shall be governed by C.R.C.P. 26(b)(5). 

(7) Protective orders sought by a party relating to discovery shall be governed by C.R.C.P. 26(c). 

(g) Use of Experts. If the matter before the court requires the use of an expert or more than one expert, the parties 

shall attempt to select one expert per issue. If they are unable to agree, the court shall act in accordance with CRE 

706, or other applicable rule or statute. 

(1) Expert reports shall be filed with the court only if required by the applicable rule or statute. 

(2) If the court appoints or the parties jointly select an expert, then the following shall apply:  

(A) Compensation for any expert shall be governed by the provisions of CRE 706. 

(B) The expert shall communicate with and submit a draft report to each party in a timely manner or within the 

period of time set by the court. The parties may confer with the expert to comment on and make objections to the 

draft report before a final report is submitted. 

(C) The court shall receive the expert reports into evidence without further foundation, unless a party notes an 

objection in the Trial Management Certificate. However, this shall not preclude either side from calling an expert for 

cross-examination, and voir dire on qualifications. Unless otherwise ordered by the court, a reasonable witness fee 

13 



Rule 16.2. Court Facilitated Management of Domestic..., CO ST RCP Rule 16.2 

 6 

 

 

associated with the expert's court appearance shall be tendered before the hearing by the party disputing the expert's 

findings. 

(3) Nothing in this rule limits the right of a party to retain a qualified expert at that party's expense, subject to 

judicial allocation if appropriate. The expert shall consider the report and documents or information used by the 

court appointed or jointly selected expert and any other documents provided by a party, and may testify at a hearing. 

Any additional documents or information provided to the expert shall be provided to the court appointed or jointly 

selected expert by the time the expert's report is submitted. 

(4) The parties have a duty to cooperate with and supply documents and other information requested by any expert. 

The parties also have a duty to supplement or correct information in the expert's report or summary. 

(5) Unless otherwise ordered by the court, expert reports shall be provided to the parties 56 days (8 weeks) prior to 

hearing. Rebuttal reports shall be provided 21 days thereafter. If an initial report is served early, the rebuttal report 

shall not be required sooner than 35 days (5 weeks) before the hearing. 

(6) Unless otherwise ordered by the court, parental responsibility evaluations and special advocate reports shall be 

provided to the parties pursuant to the applicable statute. 

(7) The court shall not give presumptive weight to the report of a court appointed or jointly selected expert when 

such report is disputed by one or both parties. 

(8) A party may depose any person who has been identified as an expert whose opinions may be presented at trial. 

Such trial preparation relating to experts shall be governed by C.R.C.P. 26(b)(4). 

(h) Trial Management Certificates. 

(1) If both parties are not represented by counsel, then each party shall file with the court a brief statement 

identifying the disputed issues and that party's witnesses and exhibits including updated Sworn Financial Statements 

and (if applicable) Supporting Schedules, together with copies thereof, mailed to the opposing party at least 7 days 

prior to the hearing date or at such other time as ordered by the court. 

(2) If at least one party is represented by counsel, the parties shall file a joint Trial Management Certificate 7 days 

prior to the hearing date or at such other time as ordered by the court. Petitioner's counsel (or respondent's counsel if 

petitioner is pro se) shall be responsible for scheduling meetings among counsel and parties and preparing and filing 

the Trial Management Certificate. The joint Trial Management Certificate shall set forth stipulations and undisputed 

facts, any requests for attorney fees, disputed issues and specific points of law, lists of lay witnesses and expert 

witnesses the parties intend to call at hearing, and a list of exhibits, including updated Sworn Financial Statement, 

Supporting Schedules (if applicable) and proposed child support work sheets. The parties shall exchange copies of 

exhibits at least 7 days prior to hearing. 

(i) Alternative Dispute Resolution. 

(1) Nothing in this Rule shall preclude, upon request of both parties, a judge or magistrate from conducting the 

conferences as a form of alternative dispute resolution pursuant to section 13-22-301, C.R.S. (2002), provided that 

both parties consent in writing to this process. Consent may only be withdrawn jointly. 

14 



Rule 16.2. Court Facilitated Management of Domestic..., CO ST RCP Rule 16.2 

 7 

 

 

(2) The provisions of this Rule shall not preclude the parties from jointly consenting to the use of dispute resolution 

services by third parties, or the court from referring the parties to mediation or other forms of alternative dispute 

resolution by third parties pursuant to sections 13-22-311 and 313, C.R.S. (2002). 

(j) Sanctions. If a party fails to comply with any of the provisions of this rule, the court may impose appropriate 

sanctions, which shall not prejudice the party who did comply. If a party attempts to call a witness or introduce an 

exhibit that the party has not disclosed under subsection (h) of this Rule, the court may exclude that witness or 

exhibit absent good cause for the omission. 

History:  

Source: Entire rule adopted May 5, 1995, effective July 1, 1995, for all cases filed on or after that date; committee 

comment approved May 5, 1995, effective July 1, 1995; entire rule and committee comment repealed and replaced 

September 30, 2004, effective for Domestic Relations Cases as defined in 16.2(a) filed on or after January 1, 2005, 

and for post-decree motions filed on or after January 1, 2005; (e), (f), (h), and committee comment amended and 

adopted February 9, 2006, effective March 1, 2006; (c)(1)(E), (d), (e)(2), (e)(3), (f)(5), (g)(5), and (h) amended and 

adopted December 14, 2011, effective January 1, 2012, for all cases pending on or filed on or after January 1, 2012, 

pursuant to C.R.C.P. 1(b); (g)(5) amended and effective February 8, 2013; amended March 5, 2020, effective 

3/5/2020.  

Note:  

Committee Comment (C.R.C.P. 16.2) 

Disclosures 

This Rule is premised upon an expectation that regular status conferences will be conducted informally, that the 

parties will provide all necessary disclosures and that formal discovery, if authorized, will be tailored to the specific 

issues of the case. Disclosure of expert testimony and the signing of disclosures and discovery responses will be 

governed by C.R.C.P. 26 as specifically incorporated into section (e) of new Rule 16.2. 

Rule 26.2 

The current Rule 26.2 will be repealed. Disclosure of expert testimony and the signing of disclosures and discovery 

responses will be governed by C.R.C.P. 26 as specifically incorporated into section (e) of new Rule 16.2. Relevant 

provisions of C.R.C.P. 26 that relate to any additional discovery authorized by the court or stipulated to by the 

parties under sections (f) and (g) of the new Rule have been incorporated into new Rule 16.2. It is the intent of the 

committee that relevant caselaw under Rule 26.2 or Rule 26 will have precedential value. The pattern interrogatories 

and pattern requests for production of documents will also be modified to be consistent with new Rule 16.2. 

Appendices and Forms 

The Supreme Court approved the mandatory disclosures, sworn financial statement and supporting schedules forms 

referenced in 16.2(e)(2), and inclusion of these forms in the Appendix to Chapters 1 to 17A of the Colorado Rules of 

Civil Procedure. Rule 16.2 requires compliance with the mandatory disclosures, and completion of the sworn 

financial statement form and supplemental schedule (if applicable) submitted with this Rule to achieve the 

disclosure intended by the Rule. The court also approved the amended pattern interrogatories (Form 35.4) and 

pattern requests for production (Form 35.5). The court further approved the form of the Stipulated Case 

15 



Rule 16.2. Court Facilitated Management of Domestic..., CO ST RCP Rule 16.2 

 8 

 

 

Management Plan, an associated Order referenced in 16.2(c)(1)(C), and the Court Authorization for Financial 

Disclosure, referenced in 16.2(e)(9), which forms now have JDF numbers. 

Settlement Conferences 

Rule 121, Section 1-17 has been amended to permit a judge or magistrate to conduct a settlement conference or 

utilize other alternative dispute resolution techniques under Rule 16.2(i). 

 

 

 

 

16 



Rule 16.2. Court Facilitated Management of Domestic..., CO ST RCP Rule 16.2 

 1 

 

 

 

 

C.R.C.P. Rule 16.2 

 

Rule 16.2. Court Facilitated Management of Domestic Relations 

Cases and General Provisions Governing Duty of Disclosure 

 

Effective: March 5, 2020  

 

 

(a) Purpose and Scope. Family members stand in a special relationship to one another and to the court system. It is the purpose 

of Rule 16.2 to provide a uniform procedure for resolution of all issues in domestic relations cases that reduces the negative 

impact of adversarial litigation wherever possible. To that end, this Rule contemplates management and facilitation of the case 

by the court, with the disclosure requirements, discovery and hearings tailored to the needs of the case. This Rule shall govern 

case management in all district court actions under Articles 10, 11 and 13 of Title 14 of the Colorado Revised Statutes, including 

post decree matters. The Child Support Enforcement Unit (CSEU) shall be exempted under this Rule unless the CSEU enters 

an appearance in an ongoing case. Upon the motion of any party or the court's own motion, the court may order that this Rule 

shall govern juvenile, paternity or probate cases involving allocation of parental responsibilities (decision-making and parenting 

time), child support and related matters. Any notice or service of process referenced in this Rule shall be governed by the 

Colorado Rules of Civil Procedure. 

 

(b) Active Case Management. The court shall provide active case management from filing to resolution or hearing on all 

pending issues. The parties, counsel and the court shall evaluate each case at all stages to determine the scheduling of that 

individual case, as well as the resources, disclosures/discovery, and experts necessary to prepare the case for resolution or 

hearing. The intent of this Rule is to provide the parties with a just, timely and cost effective process. The court shall consider 

the needs of each case and may modify its Standard Case Management Order accordingly. Each judicial district may adopt a 

Standard Case Management Order that is consistent with this Rule and takes into account the specific needs and resources of 

the judicial district. 

 

(c) Scheduling and Case Management for New Filings. 

 

(1) Initial Status Conferences/Stipulated Case Management Plans. 

 

(A) Petitioner shall be responsible for scheduling the initial status conference and shall provide notice of the conference to 

all parties. Each judicial district shall establish a procedure for setting the initial status conference. Scheduling of the initial 

status conference shall not be delayed in order to accomplish service. 

 

(B) All parties and counsel, if any, shall attend the initial status conference, except as provided in subsection (c)(1)(C) or 

(c)(1)(D). At that conference, the parties and counsel shall be prepared to discuss the issues requiring resolution and any 

special circumstances of the case. The court may permit the parties and/or counsel to attend the initial conference and any 

subsequent conferences by telephone.

 

West's Colorado Revised Statutes Annotated 

Colorado Court Rules 

Chapters 1--24. Rules of Civil Procedure 

Chapter 2. Pleadings and Motions 

17 

http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/StatutesCourtRules/ColoradoStatutesCourtRules?navigationPath=%26listSource%3D%26listPageSource%3D%26list%3D%26rank%3D0%26transitionType%3DDocumentItem&amp;contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)&amp;rs=clbt1.0&amp;vr=3.0
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/StatutesCourtRules/ColoradoStatutesCourtRules?guid=N063CCAB0D88C11DBA93CE8A0BD96DE4A&amp;navigationPath=%26listSource%3D%26listPageSource%3D%26list%3D%26rank%3D0%26transitionType%3DDocumentItem&amp;contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)&amp;rs=clbt1.0&amp;vr=3.0
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/StatutesCourtRules/ColoradoStatutesCourtRules?guid=N031920B0D88511DBA93CE8A0BD96DE4A&amp;navigationPath=%26listSource%3D%26listPageSource%3D%26list%3D%26rank%3D0%26transitionType%3DDocumentItem&amp;contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)&amp;rs=clbt1.0&amp;vr=3.0
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/StatutesCourtRules/ColoradoStatutesCourtRules?guid=N03DFCC10D88511DBA93CE8A0BD96DE4A&amp;navigationPath=%26listSource%3D%26listPageSource%3D%26list%3D%26rank%3D0%26transitionType%3DDocumentItem&amp;contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)&amp;rs=clbt1.0&amp;vr=3.0


Rule 16.2. Court Facilitated Management of Domestic..., CO ST RCP Rule 16.2 

 2 

 

 

 

(C) If both parties are represented by counsel, counsel may submit a Stipulated Case Management Plan signed 

by counsel and the parties. Counsel shall also exchange Mandatory Disclosures and file a Certificate of 

Compliance. The filing of such a plan, the Mandatory Disclosures and Certificate of Compliance shall exempt 

the parties and counsel from attendance at the initial status conference. The court shall retain discretion to require 

a status conference after review of the Stipulated Case Management Plan. 

 

(D) Parties who file an affidavit for entry of decree without appearance with all required documents before the 

initial status conference shall be excused from that conference. 

 

(E) The initial status conference shall take place, or the Stipulated Case Management Plan shall be filed with the 

court, as soon as practicable but no later than 42 days from the filing of the petition. 

 

(F) At the initial status conference, the court shall set the date for the next court appearance. The court may direct 

one of the parties to send written notice for the next court appearance or may dispense with written notice. 

 

(2) Status Conference Procedures. 

 

(A) At each conference the parties shall be prepared to discuss what needs to be done and determine a timeline for 

completion. The parties shall confer in advance on any unresolved issues. 

 

(B) The conferences shall be informal. 

 

(C) Family Court Facilitators may conduct conferences. Family Court Facilitators shall not enter orders but may 

confirm the agreements of the parties in writing. Agreements which the parties wish to have entered as orders 

shall be submitted to the judge or magistrate for approval. 

 

(D) The judge or magistrate may enter interim orders at any status conference either upon the stipulation of the 

parties or to address emergency circumstances. 

 

(E) A record of any part of the proceedings set forth in this section shall be made if requested by a party or by order of 

the court. 

 

(F) The court shall either enter minute orders, direct counsel to prepare a written order, or place any agreements 

or orders on the record. 

 

(3) Emergency Matters/Evidentiary Hearings/Temporary Orders. 

 

(A) Emergency matters may be brought to the attention of the clerk or the Family Court Facilitator for 

presentation to the court. Issues related to children shall be given priority on the court’s calendar. 

 

(B) At the request of either party or on its own motion, the court shall conduct an evidentiary hearing, subject to 

the Colorado Rules of Evidence, to resolve disputed questions of fact or law. The parties shall be given notice 

of any evidentiary hearing. Only a judge or magistrate may determine disputed questions of fact or law or enter 

orders.  

 

(C) Hearings on temporary orders shall be held as soon as possible. The parties shall certify on the record at the 

time of the temporary orders hearing that the have conferred and attempted in good faith to resolve temporary 

orders issues. If the parties do not comply with this requirement, the court may vacate the hearing unless an 

emergency exists that requires immediate court attention.  

 

18 



Rule 16.2. Court Facilitated Management of Domestic..., CO ST RCP Rule 16.2 

 3 

 

 

 

(4) Motions. 

 

(A) Motions related to the jurisdiction of the court, change of venue, service and consolidation, protection orders, 

contempt, motions to amend the petition or response, withdrawal or substitution of counsel, motions to seal the 

court file or limit access to the court file, motions in limine related to evidentiary hearings, motions for review 

of an order by a magistrate, and post decree motions may be filed with the court at any time. 

 

(B) All other motions shall only be filed and scheduled as determined at a status conference or in an emergency 

upon order of court. 

 

(d) Scheduling and Case Management for Post-Decree/Modification Matters. Within 49 days of the date a post 

decree motion or motion to modify is filed, the court shall review the matter and determine whether the case will be 

scheduled and resolved under the provisions of (c) or will be handled on the pleadings or otherwise. 

 

(e) Disclosure. 

(1) Parties to domestic relations cases owe each other and the court a duty of full and honest disclosure of all facts 

that materially affect their rights and interests and those of the children involved in the case. The court requires that, 

in the discharge of this duty, a party must affirmatively disclose all information that is material to the resolution of 

the case without awaiting inquiry from the other party. This disclosure shall be conducted in accord with the duty of 

candor owing among those whose domestic issues are to be resolved under this Rule 16.2. 

(2) Except as set forth in C.R.C.P. 16.2(e)(11) below, a party shall, without a formal discovery request, provide the 

Mandatory Disclosures, as set forth in the form and content of Appendix to Chapters 1 to 17A, Form 35.1, C.R.C.P., 

and shall provide a completed Sworn Financial Statement and (if applicable) Supporting Schedules as set forth in the 

form and content of Appendix to Chapters 1 to 17A, Form 35.2 and Form 35.3, C.R.C.P, to the other party within 42 

days after service of a petition or a post decree motion involving financial issues. The parties shall exchange the 

required Mandatory Disclosures, the Sworn Financial Statement and (if applicable) Supporting Schedules by the 

time of the initial status conference to the extent reasonably possible. Parties proceeding under C.R.C.P. 16.2(e)(11) 

shall file and serve a completed Affidavit in Support of Waiver of Mandatory Disclosures, JDF Form 35.4, within 42 

days after service of a petition or a post-decree motion involving financial matters.  

(3) A party shall, without a formal discovery request, also provide a list of expert and lay witnesses whom the party 

intends to call at a contested hearing or final orders. This disclosure shall include the address, phone number and a 

brief description of the testimony of each witness. This disclosure shall be made no later than 63 days (9 weeks) 

prior to the date of the contested hearing or final orders, unless the time for such disclosure is modified by the court.  

Unless otherwise stipulated or ordered by the court and subject to the provisions of subsection (g) of this Rule, the 

disclosure of expert testimony shall be governed by the provisions of C.R.C.P. 26(a)(2)(B). The time for the 

disclosure of expert or lay witnesses whom a party intends to call at a temporary orders hearing or other emergency 

hearing shall be determined by the court. 

(4) A party is under a continuing duty to supplement or amend any disclosure in a timely manner. This duty shall be 

governed by the provisions of C.R.C.P. 26(e). 

(5) If a party does not timely provide the Mandatory Disclosure, the court may impose sanctions pursuant to 

subsection (j) of this Rule. 

19 



Rule 16.2. Court Facilitated Management of Domestic..., CO ST RCP Rule 16.2 

 4 

 

 

(6) The Sworn Financial Statement, Supporting Schedules (if applicable) and child support worksheets shall be filed 

with the court. Other mandatory disclosure documents shall not be filed with the court. 

(7) A Certificate of Compliance shall accompany the Mandatory Disclosures and shall be filed with the court. A 

party's signature on the Certificate constitutes certification that to the best of the signer's knowledge, information, 

and belief, formed after a reasonable inquiry, the Mandatory Disclosure is complete and correct as of the time it is 

made, except as noted with particularity in the Certificate of Compliance. 

(8) Signing of all disclosures, discovery requests, responses and objections shall be governed by C.R.C.P. 26(g). 

(9) A Court Authorization For Financial Disclosure shall be issued at the initial status conference if requested, or 

may be executed by those parties who submit a Stipulated Case Management Plan pursuant to (c)(1)(C), identifying 

the persons authorized to receive such information. 

(10) As set forth in this section, it is the duty of parties to an action for decree of dissolution of marriage, legal 

separation, or invalidity of marriage, to provide full disclosure of all material assets and liabilities. If a disclosure 

contains a misstatement or omission materially affecting the division of assets or liabilities, any party may file and 

the court shall consider and rule on a motion seeking to reallocate assets and liabilities based on such a misstatement 

or omission, provided that the motion is filed within 5 years of the final decree or judgment. The court shall deny 

any such motion that is filed under this paragraph more than 5 years after the final decree or judgment. The 

provisions of C.R.C.P. 60 do not bar a motion by either party to allocate such assets or liabilities pursuant to this 

paragraph. This paragraph does not limit other remedies that may be available to a party by law. 

(11) (a) Parties to a domestic relations matter may agree in writing to limit exchange of financial disclosures 

otherwise required under C.R.C.P. 16.2(e)(2) to Sworn Financial Statements so long as the parties affirm that all of 

the following conditions exist at the time of their agreement: 

1. Limiting disclosure will not create a substantial hardship to any party; 

2. No party is pregnant, and the matter will not involve a determination of paternity, entry of a parenting 

plan, or an order of child support; 

3. Neither party is seeking an award of maintenance; 

4. The net equity (estimated value as of the current date minus all amounts owed) of all marital assets in a 

dissolution matter (excluding the marital residence) is less than $100,000. 

5. The combined debt of the parties, not including the mortgage on the marital residence, is less than 

$50,000; and 

6. Neither party has any separate property interests with net equity exceeding $10,000, or any interest in a 

pension, or any interest in a trust. 

(b) Each party shall execute an Affidavit in Support of Waiver of Mandatory Disclosures, JDF Form 35.4, 

affirming that the proceeding meets the requirements set forth above for limited disclosures.  

(c) In all domestic relations cases, the filing of a Sworn Financial Statement remains mandatory. At any time after 

filing Sworn Financial Statements, either party may withdraw consent to limited financial disclosures by filing a 

Notice of Withdrawal of Consent to Waiver of Mandatory Financial Disclosures in Domestic Relations Cases, JDF 

20 



Rule 16.2. Court Facilitated Management of Domestic..., CO ST RCP Rule 16.2 

 5 

 

 

Form 35.5, with the Court withdrawing consent to limited disclosures, or the Court may order that limited financial 

disclosure is not appropriate given the facts of a particular case. All disclosures required under C.R.C.P. 16.2(e)(2) 

shall be exchanged and the Certificate of Compliance filed within 28 days following the earlier of the date of filing a 

withdrawal of consent or entry of a Court order mandating complete financial disclosures.  

(f) Discovery. Discovery shall be subject to active case management by the court consistent with this Rule. 

(1) Depositions of parties are permitted. 

(2) Depositions of non-parties upon oral or written examination for the purpose of obtaining or authenticating 

documents not accessible to a party are permitted. 

(3) After an initial status conference or as agreed to in a Stipulated Case Management Plan filed pursuant to 

(c)(1)(E), a party may serve on each adverse party any of the pattern interrogatories and requests for production of 

documents contained in the Appendix to Chapters 1 to 17A Form 35.4 and Form 35.5, C.R.C.P. A party may also 

serve on each adverse party 10 additional written interrogatories and 10 additional requests for production of 

documents, each of which shall consist of a single question or request. 

(4) The parties shall not undertake additional formal discovery except as authorized by the court or as agreed in a 

Stipulated Case Management Plan filed pursuant to (c)(1)(C). The court shall grant all reasonable requests for 

additional discovery for good cause as defined in C.R.C.P. 26(b)(2)(F). Unless otherwise governed by the provisions 

of this Rule additional discovery shall be governed by C.R.C.P. Rules 26 through 37 and C.R.C.P. 121 section 1-12. 

Methods to discover additional matters shall be governed by C.R.C.P. 26(a)(5). Additional discovery for trial 

preparation relating to documents and tangible things shall be governed by C.R.C.P. 26(b)(3). 

(5) All discovery shall be initiated so as to be completed not later than 28 days before hearing, except that the court 

shall extend the time upon good cause shown or to prevent manifest injustice. 

(6) Claims of privilege or protection of trial preparation materials shall be governed by C.R.C.P. 26(b)(5). 

(7) Protective orders sought by a party relating to discovery shall be governed by C.R.C.P. 26(c). 

(g) Use of Experts. If the matter before the court requires the use of an expert or more than one expert, the parties 

shall attempt to select one expert per issue. If they are unable to agree, the court shall act in accordance with CRE 

706, or other applicable rule or statute. 

(1) Expert reports shall be filed with the court only if required by the applicable rule or statute. 

(2) If the court appoints or the parties jointly select an expert, then the following shall apply:  

(A) Compensation for any expert shall be governed by the provisions of CRE 706. 

(B) The expert shall communicate with and submit a draft report to each party in a timely manner or within the 

period of time set by the court. The parties may confer with the expert to comment on and make objections to the 

draft report before a final report is submitted. 

(C) The court shall receive the expert reports into evidence without further foundation, unless a party notes an 

objection in the Trial Management Certificate. However, this shall not preclude either side from calling an expert for 

cross-examination, and voir dire on qualifications. Unless otherwise ordered by the court, a reasonable witness fee 

21 



Rule 16.2. Court Facilitated Management of Domestic..., CO ST RCP Rule 16.2 

 6 

 

 

associated with the expert's court appearance shall be tendered before the hearing by the party disputing the expert's 

findings. 

(3) Nothing in this rule limits the right of a party to retain a qualified expert at that party's expense, subject to 

judicial allocation if appropriate. The expert shall consider the report and documents or information used by the 

court appointed or jointly selected expert and any other documents provided by a party, and may testify at a hearing. 

Any additional documents or information provided to the expert shall be provided to the court appointed or jointly 

selected expert by the time the expert's report is submitted. 

(4) The parties have a duty to cooperate with and supply documents and other information requested by any expert. 

The parties also have a duty to supplement or correct information in the expert's report or summary. 

(5) Unless otherwise ordered by the court, expert reports shall be provided to the parties 56 days (8 weeks) prior to 

hearing. Rebuttal reports shall be provided 21 days thereafter. If an initial report is served early, the rebuttal report 

shall not be required sooner than 35 days (5 weeks) before the hearing. 

(6) Unless otherwise ordered by the court, parental responsibility evaluations and special advocate reports shall be 

provided to the parties pursuant to the applicable statute. 

(7) The court shall not give presumptive weight to the report of a court appointed or jointly selected expert when 

such report is disputed by one or both parties. 

(8) A party may depose any person who has been identified as an expert whose opinions may be presented at trial. 

Such trial preparation relating to experts shall be governed by C.R.C.P. 26(b)(4). 

(h) Trial Management Certificates. 

(1) If both parties are not represented by counsel, then each party shall file with the court a brief statement 

identifying the disputed issues and that party's witnesses and exhibits including updated Sworn Financial Statements 

and (if applicable) Supporting Schedules, together with copies thereof, mailed to the opposing party at least 7 days 

prior to the hearing date or at such other time as ordered by the court. 

(2) If at least one party is represented by counsel, the parties shall file a joint Trial Management Certificate 7 days 

prior to the hearing date or at such other time as ordered by the court. Petitioner's counsel (or respondent's counsel if 

petitioner is pro se) shall be responsible for scheduling meetings among counsel and parties and preparing and filing 

the Trial Management Certificate. The joint Trial Management Certificate shall set forth stipulations and undisputed 

facts, any requests for attorney fees, disputed issues and specific points of law, lists of lay witnesses and expert 

witnesses the parties intend to call at hearing, and a list of exhibits, including updated Sworn Financial Statement, 

Supporting Schedules (if applicable) and proposed child support work sheets. The parties shall exchange copies of 

exhibits at least 7 days prior to hearing. 

(i) Alternative Dispute Resolution. 

(1) Nothing in this Rule shall preclude, upon request of both parties, a judge or magistrate from conducting the 

conferences as a form of alternative dispute resolution pursuant to section 13-22-301, C.R.S. (2002), provided that 

both parties consent in writing to this process. Consent may only be withdrawn jointly. 

22 



Rule 16.2. Court Facilitated Management of Domestic..., CO ST RCP Rule 16.2 

 7 

 

 

(2) The provisions of this Rule shall not preclude the parties from jointly consenting to the use of dispute resolution 

services by third parties, or the court from referring the parties to mediation or other forms of alternative dispute 

resolution by third parties pursuant to sections 13-22-311 and 313, C.R.S. (2002). 

(j) Sanctions. If a party fails to comply with any of the provisions of this rule, the court may impose appropriate 

sanctions, which shall not prejudice the party who did comply. If a party attempts to call a witness or introduce an 

exhibit that the party has not disclosed under subsection (h) of this Rule, the court may exclude that witness or 

exhibit absent good cause for the omission. 

History:  

Source: Entire rule adopted May 5, 1995, effective July 1, 1995, for all cases filed on or after that date; committee 

comment approved May 5, 1995, effective July 1, 1995; entire rule and committee comment repealed and replaced 

September 30, 2004, effective for Domestic Relations Cases as defined in 16.2(a) filed on or after January 1, 2005, 

and for post-decree motions filed on or after January 1, 2005; (e), (f), (h), and committee comment amended and 

adopted February 9, 2006, effective March 1, 2006; (c)(1)(E), (d), (e)(2), (e)(3), (f)(5), (g)(5), and (h) amended and 

adopted December 14, 2011, effective January 1, 2012, for all cases pending on or filed on or after January 1, 2012, 

pursuant to C.R.C.P. 1(b); (g)(5) amended and effective February 8, 2013; amended March 5, 2020, effective 

3/5/2020.  

Note:  

Committee Comment (C.R.C.P. 16.2) 

Disclosures 

This Rule is premised upon an expectation that regular status conferences will be conducted informally, that the 

parties will provide all necessary disclosures and that formal discovery, if authorized, will be tailored to the specific 

issues of the case. Disclosure of expert testimony and the signing of disclosures and discovery responses will be 

governed by C.R.C.P. 26 as specifically incorporated into section (e) of new Rule 16.2. 

Rule 26.2 

The current Rule 26.2 will be repealed. Disclosure of expert testimony and the signing of disclosures and discovery 

responses will be governed by C.R.C.P. 26 as specifically incorporated into section (e) of new Rule 16.2. Relevant 

provisions of C.R.C.P. 26 that relate to any additional discovery authorized by the court or stipulated to by the 

parties under sections (f) and (g) of the new Rule have been incorporated into new Rule 16.2. It is the intent of the 

committee that relevant caselaw under Rule 26.2 or Rule 26 will have precedential value. The pattern interrogatories 

and pattern requests for production of documents will also be modified to be consistent with new Rule 16.2. 

Appendices and Forms 

The Supreme Court approved the mandatory disclosures, sworn financial statement and supporting schedules forms 

referenced in 16.2(e)(2), and inclusion of these forms in the Appendix to Chapters 1 to 17A of the Colorado Rules of 

Civil Procedure. Rule 16.2 requires compliance with the mandatory disclosures, and completion of the sworn 

financial statement form and supplemental schedule (if applicable) submitted with this Rule to achieve the 

disclosure intended by the Rule. The court also approved the amended pattern interrogatories (Form 35.4) and 

pattern requests for production (Form 35.5). The court further approved the form of the Stipulated Case 

23 



Rule 16.2. Court Facilitated Management of Domestic..., CO ST RCP Rule 16.2 

 8 

 

 

Management Plan, an associated Order referenced in 16.2(c)(1)(C), and the Court Authorization for Financial 

Disclosure, referenced in 16.2(e)(9), which forms now have JDF numbers. 

Settlement Conferences 

Rule 121, Section 1-17 has been amended to permit a judge or magistrate to conduct a settlement conference or 

utilize other alternative dispute resolution techniques under Rule 16.2(i). 

 

 

 

 

24 



JDF 35.4 10-4-2022    WAIVER OF MANDATORY FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES Page 1 
 

❑District Court ❑Denver Probate Court  

___________________ County, Colorado 
Court Address: 
 
 
 

❑In the Interest of: 

❑In re the Marriage of: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COURT USE ONLY  

Case Number: 
 
 
 
Division               Courtroom 

AFFIDAVIT IN SUPPORT OF WAIVER OF MANDATORY FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURES IN DOMESTIC RELATIONS CASES 

 

I, the ❑Respondent ❑ Petitioner ❑ Co-Petitioner in the above-captioned domestic relations case, 

hereby states that each of the following is true:  

 

1. ❑ I have filed a completed Sworn Financial Statement with the Court. 

 

2. ❑I am not currently seeking an award of maintenance. 

 

3. ❑ I am not pregnant, and this matter will not involve a determination of paternity, entry of a parenting 

plan, or an order of child support. There are no minor or unemancipated children of this marriage, and 
neither I nor my spouse supports a minor or unemancipated child. 

 

4. ❑ The net equity (estimated value as of the current date minus amount owed) of all marital assets 

(excluding the marital residence) is less than $100,000. 
 

5. ❑ I do not have any separate property interests with net equity exceeding $10,000, any interest in a 

pension, or any interest in a trust. 

 

6. ❑ The combined debt owed by me and my spouse, not including the mortgage on the marital 

residence, is less than $50,000. 
 

7. ❑ I understand my right to exchange complete financial disclosures as part of this dissolution of 

marriage or legal separation action and agree that proceeding without such disclosures will not create a 
substantial hardship for any party. 

 
 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the law of Colorado that the foregoing is true and correct. 
 
Sworn and affirmed this _____day of _____, 20__. 
       
     
              
Printed Name        Signature    
 
Advisement: Either party may withdraw consent to waiving mandatory financial disclosures by filing a notice 
with the Court. Upon entry of the Court’s order, both parties must proceed with exchanging all financial 
disclosures required under C.R.C.P. 16.2(e)(2) within 28 days. 

25 



JDF 35.5 10-5-2022    WITHDRAWAL OF CONSENT Page 1 
 

❑District Court ❑Denver Probate Court  

___________________ County, Colorado 
Court Address: 
 
 
 

❑In the Interest of: 

❑In re the Marriage of: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COURT USE ONLY  

Case Number: 
 
 
 
Division               Courtroom 

NOTICE OF WITHDRAWAL OF CONSENT TO WAIVER OF MANDATORY 
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES IN DOMESTIC RELATIONS CASES 

 

I, the ❑Respondent ❑ Petitioner ❑ Co-Petitioner in the above-captioned domestic relations case, 

hereby states that each of the following is true:  

1. ❑     I previously filed an Affidavit in Support of Waiver of Mandatory Financial Disclosures in Domestic 

Relations Cases (Form 35.4). 
 

2. ❑ I hereby withdraw consent to waive mandatory financial disclosures in this dissolution of marriage 

or legal separation action. 
 

3. ❑  I understand that all financial disclosures required under C.R.C.P. 16.2(e)(2) and JDF 1125 SC 

(Form 35.1) must be exchanged by both parties within 28 days following the date this notice is filed. 
 

 
Notice to Other Party: Either party may withdraw consent to waiving mandatory financial disclosures by filing a 
notice (JDF Form 35.5) with the Court. Upon filing a notice withdrawing consent, both parties must exchange all 
financial disclosures required under C.R.C.P. 16.2(e)(2) JDF 1125 SC (Form 35.1) within 28 days following the date 
the notice is filed. 
  
 

      
Date: ___________________________     _______________________________________
        Your Signature 

 
*Signature is Required Below Before Filing With the Court 

 

Certificate of Service 
 
 

I certify that on __________________ (date) a true and accurate copy of this Notice was served on the other party 
by: 
 
❑Hand Delivery ❑E-filed ❑Faxed to this number ____________________ or  
 
❑by placing it in the United States mail, postage pre-paid, and addressed to the following:     
 
      
              
               
       *Your Signature       

 

26 


	11.4.22 Agenda Draft
	AGENDA

	9.23.22 minutes draft
	email4and5forpacket
	CRCCP Form 4 and Form 5
	Form 4 Notice of Appeal Redline version 9-27-2022
	Form 5 Designation of Record on Appeal Redline version 9-27-2022

	Rule 16.2 Court Facilitated Management of Domestic Relations Cases and General-10-27-22-FINAL REDLINES
	Rule 16.2 Court Facilitated Management of Domestic Relations Cases and General-10-27-22-FINAL CLEAN VERSION
	Affidavit JDF Form 35.4 -FINAL VERSION
	Notice of Withdrawal of Consent JDF Form 35.5-10-27-22 FINAL CLEAN VERSION

